
 
 
 
 

A meeting of the ELECTIONS PANEL will be held the CABINET 
ROOM, PATHFINDER HOUSE, ST MARY'S STREET, 
HUNTINGDON on MONDAY, 31 OCTOBER 2005 at 5:30 PM and 
you are requested to attend for the transaction of the following 
business:- 

 
 
 

A G E N D A 
 
 APOLOGIES 
 

 Contact 
 

1. MINUTES  (Pages 1 - 2) 
 

Mrs L Jablonska 
388004 

 To approve as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 18th 
May 2005. 
 

 

2. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 

 

 To receive from Members declarations as to personal and/or prejudicial 
interests and the nature of those interests in relation to any Agenda item.  
Please see Notes 1 and 2 below. 
 

 

3. PERIODIC ELECTORAL REVIEWS - CONSULTATION PAPER  (Pages 3 - 36) 
 

Mrs L Jablonska 
388004 

 To consider a report by the Director of Central Services on a consultation 
paper produced by the Electoral Commission on their evaluation of how 
Periodic Electoral Reviews are undertaken. 
 

 

   
 Dated this 21st day of October 2005  
 

 

 

 Chief Executive  
 

 
Notes 
 
1. A personal interest exists where a decision on a matter would affect to a greater extent than other 

people in the District – 
 
 (a) the well-being, financial position, employment or business of the Councillor, a partner, relatives or 

close friends; 
 
 (b) a body employing those persons, any firm in which they are a partner and any company of which 

they are directors; 
 



 

 (c) any corporate body in which those persons have a beneficial interest in a class of securities 
exceeding the nominal value of £5,000; or 

 
  (d) the Councillor’s registerable financial and other interests. 
 
2. A personal interest becomes a prejudicial interest where a member of the public (who has knowledge 

of the circumstances) would reasonably regard the Member’s personal interest as being so significant 
that it is likely to prejudice the Councillor’s judgement of the public interest. 

 

Please contact Mrs L Jablonska, Central Services Manager, Tel No 01480 388004/e-mail:  
Lisa.Jablonska@huntsdc.gov.uk  if you have a general query on any Agenda Item, wish to tender 
your apologies for absence from the meeting, or would like information on any decision taken by 
the Committee/Panel. 

Specific enquiries with regard to items on the Agenda should be directed towards the Contact 
Officer. 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except during 
consideration of confidential or exempt items of business. 

 
Agenda and enclosures can be viewed on the District Council’s website – 

www.huntingdonshire.gov.uk (under Councils and Democracy). 
 

If you would like a translation of Agenda/Minutes/Reports or 
would like a large text version or an audio version please contact the  

Democratic Services Manager and we will try to accommodate your needs. 
 
 

Emergency Procedure 

In the event of the fire alarm being sounded and on the instruction of the Meeting Administrator, all 
attendees are requested to vacate the building via the closest emergency exit and to make their way to 
the base of the flagpole in the car park at the front of Pathfinder House. 

 
 



HUNTINGDONSHIRE DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
 
 MINUTES of the meeting of the ELECTIONS PANEL held at 

Pathfinder House, St Mary's Street, Huntingdon on Wednesday, 18 
May 2005. 

   
 PRESENT: Councillor I C Bates, P J Downes, D Harty, 

M F Newman, T D Sanderson and J Taylor. 
   
   
   
 APOLOGY: An apology for absence from the meeting 

was submitted on behalf of Councillor 
K Reynolds. 

   
 
 

1. ELECTION OF CHAIRMAN   
 

 RESOLVED 
 
 that Councillor D Harty be elected Chairman of the Panel for 
 the ensuing Municipal Year. 
 
Councillor D Harty in the Chair. 
 

2. MINUTES   
 

 The Minutes of the meeting of the Panel held on 29th September 2004 
were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chairman. 
 

3. MEMBERS' INTERESTS   
 

 No declarations were received. 
 

4. APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIRMAN   
 

 RESOLVED 
 
 that Councillor I C Bates be appointed Vice-Chairman of the 
 Panel for the ensuing Municipal Year.  
 

 
 
 
 
 

Chairman 
 

Agenda Item 1

1



2

This page is intentionally left blank



ELECTIONS PANEL 31ST OCTOBER 2005 
 

 

PERIODIC ELECTORAL REVIEWS – CONSULTATION PAPER 
(Report by the Director of Central Services) 

 
 
1. INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 This report provides details of a consultation paper produced by the 

Electoral Commission on their evaluation of how periodic electoral 
reviews are undertaken.  It evaluates the policies and processes used 
to guide electoral reviews in England. 

 
1.2 The overall aims are to look at changes to the way any future electoral 

reviews might be conducted, develop guidance for the Boundary 
Committee for England on the way reviews should be carried out and 
consider whether any changes to the law should be recommended to 
central government. 

 
2. CONSULTATION 
 
2.1 Reproduced as an Appendix to this report is the consultation paper 

produced by the Electoral Commission which is seeking views on how 
the statutory criteria for electoral reviews – community identity, 
electoral equality and effective and convenient local government – 
have been applied and if they can be improved.  The Commission is 
also considering possible changes to the review processes and 
reviewing the timing and frequency of periodic electoral reviews. 

 
2.2 The deadline for responses to the consultation paper is 25th November 

2005 and the Electoral Commission has invited responses by way of 
14 questions as set out in the Appendix.  There may also be other 
issues on which Members may wish to express views. 

 
3. CONCLUSION AND RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1 Following the consultation period, the Electoral Commission intends to 

produce revised Guidance to the Boundary Committee for England on 
periodic electoral reviews. 

 
3.2 The Panel is recommended to consider its responses to the questions 

contained in the consultation paper produced by the Electoral 
Commission.  

 
 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
Consultation Paper by the Electoral Commission on Periodic Electoral 
Reviews – September 2005  
 
Contact Officer: Lisa Jablonska, Central Services Manager 
    01480 388004 

Agenda Item 3

3



4

This page is intentionally left blank



Periodic electoral reviews
Consultation paper

2 September 2005

5



Translations and other formats
For information on obtaining this publication in another 
language or in a large-print or Braille version please 
contact The Electoral Commission: 

Tel: 020 7271 0500 
Email: publications@electoralcommission.org.uk

We are an independent body that was set up by the UK Parliament. Our 
mission is to foster public confidence and participation by promoting integrity, 
involvement and effectiveness in the democratic process. 

6



Contents

Foreword 1

1 Introduction 3
Why are we conducting this consultation? 
Who is this consultation paper aimed at? 
How to respond 

3
4
4

2 Background 5
The periodic electoral reviews (PER) programme 
Further electoral reviews (FERs) 
The statutory framework for PERs 
The Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM) 
Select Committee enquiry 
The Government’s 10 year vision for local 
government

5
5
5
6

7

3 What issues are we seeking your views on? 8
 The statutory criteria 8
 The timing and scheduling of reviews 15
 Issues and information considered during a review 17
 Electorate forecasts 21
 Review processes 24

4 Responding to the consultation paper 27
How do I make a response? 
What is the time frame for consultation? 
What will happen after the consultation period? 
What if I have a question about the consultation 
paper?

27
27
27
27

   

7



8



1

Foreword

Electoral reviews may have significant implications. They can, and do, affect 
the level of representation voters have in an area, the number of councillors 
on a local authority, the size of wards, the boundaries drawn between them 
and the communities who make up an electoral area, as well as the 
administration of all elections. 

Electoral reviews of all local authorities are not expected to happen very 
often. For most councils, it has been 20–25 years between the previous 
electoral review and the latest one. In that time there has been a significant 
worsening in electoral equality.

The latest review of all local authorities was completed last year. While this is 
fresh in people’s minds, The Electoral Commission is examining how it 
interprets the law, how its approach might be improved and what it might do to 
enhance the way it works with people interested in the outcome. It is possible 
that the review might lead the Commission to recommend changes to the 
current legislation.

The Commission is also keen to ensure that its approach to electoral reviews 
can, as far as it is possible within the law, encourage participation and 
engagement in democracy. 

We urge you to respond to this consultation paper. We value your opinion. 

The consultation paper addresses a wide range of electoral review issues. In 
particular, we are keen to hear your views on:

 how the statutory criteria for electoral reviews – community identity, 
electoral equality, and effective and convenient local government –have 
been applied and if they can be improved; 

 possible changes to the review processes, including the evidence taken 
into consideration by the Commission; and

 issues surrounding the timing and scheduling of reviews.

The Commission would appreciate any comments on these and the other 
issues discussed in the consultation paper. Please feel free to respond to 
some or all of the questions.

Sam Younger   Pamela Gordon 
Chairman of The    Chair of The Boundary  
Electoral Commission  Committee for England 

9



2

10



3

1 Introduction 

1.1 The Electoral Commission is an independent public body, established on 
30 November 2000 under the Political Parties, Elections and 
Referendums Act 2000 (PPERA). Its functions include the review of 
electoral arrangements of local authorities in England, taking decisions 
on these and making orders to implement changes. 

1.2 The Boundary Committee for England is a statutory committee of the 
Commission and undertakes the reviews of electoral arrangements. 
Under the Local Government Act 1992, it is required to review 
periodically the electoral arrangements of every local authority in 
England. These are generally described as periodic electoral reviews 
(PERs).

1.3 An eight-year programme of PERs concluded in October 2004, with the 
completion of 386 electoral reviews – 35 county councils and 351 district 
councils. The Boundary Committee for England has begun to monitor 
the electoral inequalities that have arisen in those local authorities where 
reviews began between 1996 and 2000. Where significant imbalances 
have arisen and are likely to remain, the Commission has directed the 
Committee to undertake further electoral reviews (FERs).  

Why are we conducting this consultation? 

1.4 With the end of the PER programme, the Commission has begun a 
comprehensive evaluation of the policies and processes used to guide 
PERs in England, taking stock of the lessons it has learnt from 
undertaking the PER programme. The evaluation includes: 

 examining how the statutory criteria and rules have been applied; 

 considering the approach taken by the Commission and the 
Committee on such matters as numbers of councillors, consultation 
with interested parties in PERs, timetabling reviews and warding; 

 considering when PERs should take place and how frequently; 

 considering the evidence required to support proposals and 
decisions;

 commissioning some research and analysis to inform the 
Commission’s examination; and 

 seeking the views of a wide range of stakeholders between 
September and November 2005. This consultation paper is part of 
that process. 

1.5 The Commission intends to: 

 develop fresh guidance to The Boundary Committee for England 
on the way such reviews should be carried out; and 

 consider whether or not any changes to the law ought to be 
recommended to the Government. 

11



4

Who is this consultation paper aimed at? 

1.6 This consultation paper will be of interest to all voters and community 
groups with an interest in democratic arrangements in their area; elected 
representatives in local authorities and parish and town councils; political 
parties; and staff administering elections. 

1.7 PERs can affect the number of councillors in a local authority, the level 
of representation people have (the number of electors per councillor) 
and the number of councillors representing each electoral area, as well 
as the boundaries of electoral areas and the names of electoral areas. 
The boundaries for district council wards can in turn be used as the 
building blocks for Parliamentary constituencies. 

1.8 The process for conducting PERs requires cooperation from local 
authorities (to provide information and publicise reviews, for example); 
proposals for dividing up a district into electoral areas to be made by any 
interested parties for consideration by The Boundary Committee for 
England; and evidence from interested parties to support their proposals. 

How to respond 

Please send your responses to this consultation paper by Friday 25 
November 2005 to: 

The Electoral Commission 
Attention: PER evaluation 
Planning and Development Team
Trevelyan House 
Great Peter Street 
London SW1P 2HW 

Telephone: 020 7271 0500 
Fax: 020 7271 0505 
Email: perevaluation@electoralcommission.org.uk

Responses can also be submitted via the Commission’s website: 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/your-say/ecconsultations.cfm 

12



5

2 Background 

The periodic electoral reviews (PER) programme 

2.1 The programme of PERs started in 1996. For most local authorities 
whose boundaries had not changed significantly, this was their first 
electoral review in over 20 years. During the eight-year programme 
nearly 400 separate reviews were completed. 

2.2 Broadly, as a consequence of the electoral reviews: 

 Electoral inequalities within local authorities were reduced 
significantly. In around one-third of local authorities, the variance in 
electoral equality1 has been reduced to no more than 5%. No local 
authorities had this level of equality before the PER programme. 
Overall, the variance has fallen by nine percentage points. 

 The proportion of two and three councillor electoral areas 
increased from 54% to over 60%. Consequently, the average 
electorate of wards and divisions has risen, though there continues 
to be a mix of wards with one, two and three councillors in shire 
districts, and most county electoral areas have one councillor 
(89%).

 There has been little overall change to the number of councillors on 
councils. Following an electoral review, around 125 councils had no 
change and a similar number changed by only one or two 
councillors. Over 70 councils had reductions of three or more, while 
30 local authorities had increases of three or more. 

Further electoral reviews (FERs) 

2.3 Further electoral reviews are ad-hoc or interim reviews that take place 
outside of a regular programme of electoral reviews. The PER 
programme was completed in October 2004. Since June 2004, The 
Electoral Commission has directed that 22 FERs be undertaken. To date 
these directions have been for reviews in areas with unacceptably high 
levels of electoral inequality. That is, where levels of representation have 
worsened significantly since the PER.  

The statutory framework for PERs 

2.4 The Commission is required to follow the legislation set out principally in 
the Local Government Act 1992.2 Section 13(4) places a duty on the 
Commission to direct The Boundary Committee for England to undertake 
electoral reviews periodically of each local authority area in England. 

                                           

1
 This is measured by a weighted ward average variance (WWAV) which is the average for all 

the wards of the difference from the elector-to-councillor ratio for the whole area. 
2
 More details can be found in the Commission’s current Guidance and procedural advice to 

The Boundary Committee for England on www.boundarycommittee.org.uk. 

13



6

Under Section 13(5) of the 1992 Act, the Committee has to take account 
of:

 the need to reflect the identities and interests of local communities;  

 the need to secure effective and convenient local government; and 

 the need to secure equality of representation.  

These criteria are in no order of priority.3

2.5 In considering electoral arrangements, Section 27(2) of the 1992 Act 
requires the Committee to have regard, so far as is reasonably 
practicable, to the rules that are set out in Schedule 11 to the Local 
Government Act 1972.

2.6 In broad terms, this is all taken to mean that the objective of an electoral 
review is to ensure that, within the local authority area, the number of 
electors represented by each councillor is, as nearly as is possible, the 
same. In moving away from electoral equality the Committee must then 
take into account: 

 local circumstances, including the need to secure convenient and 
effective local government; 

 the identities and interests of local communities; and 

 the need to achieve easily identifiable electoral boundaries.  

2.7 This is all described in more detail in the Commission’s current Guidance
and procedural advice to The Boundary Committee for England.

The Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM) Select 
Committee enquiry 

2.8 Earlier this year, the Select Committee held an enquiry into the statutory 
criteria used to determine ward boundaries.4 It concluded that the written 
evidence suggested the need to secure electoral equality within local 
authority areas, but that ‘too much weight is given to the criterion of 
equality of representation’ and ‘not enough is paid to the interests and 
identities of local communities’. The Committee also asked for 
simultaneous county and shire district reviews, in order to achieve a 
closer match of boundaries in these areas, and for the Commission to be 
given a clearer steer to the consideration of council size. Some of these 
proposals would require changes to the law. 

2.9 As part of this consultation, the Commission is seeking views on a range 
of questions about the process and policies affecting electoral reviews. 

                                           

3
 The Committee must also take account of the cycle of elections in the area under review 

where the Secretary of State has made an order to specify a scheme for elections under 
Section 86 of the Local Government Act 2000. To date, there have been orders affecting 
seven local authorities. 
4
 The ODPM Select Committee’s report (HC315 Ninth report of Session 2004–5) can be 

found at www.parliament.uk/parliamentary_committees/odpm.cfm. 

14



7

These should allow comments on all of the issues raised in the Select 
Committee’s report and the written evidence it took. 

The Government’s 10 year vision for local government 

2.10 The Office of the Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM) is in the process of 
seeking feedback on a range of issues to shape the future role of 
councils and their elected representatives. The Government has 
indicated that a White Paper may be issued early in 2006. To date, 
consultation papers on local leadership and neighbourhoods have been 
published.5 These contain proposals that could have implications for the 
Commission’s approach to electoral reviews if they were to become law.

2.11 The Government’s proposals include: 

 Being ‘minded to accept’ that whole council elections every four 
years, as recommended by the Commission, should be introduced 
for all councils in England.6 This would mean elections for all 
councillors every four years, not by halves every two years or thirds 
three years in four, which is the pattern in many councils at 
present.

 The suggestion that elected ward councillors should have a larger 
role in representing their neighbourhoods and querying whether or 
not the current workload might have to be reduced to achieve this 
in some places. This could have implications for the number of 
councillors in an area if councillors had a larger role to perform. 

 The suggestion that elected ward councillors might better represent 
a defined geographical area if there were one councillor from each 
ward. This could affect the ability to recognise community ties in 
drawing up the boundaries of electoral areas. 

2.12 The Commission will consider any developments in the Government’s 
thinking in these areas and will take account of the implications if 
proposals for legislation are made. For the time being, however, the 
Commission can only conduct reviews on the basis of the law as it 
stands.

                                           

5
 These can be found at www.odpm.gov.uk/localvision. 

6
 Refer to The Electoral Commission’s report – The cycle of local government elections in 

England – www.electoralcommission.org.uk/templates/search/document.cfm/9056. 

15



8

3 What issues are we seeking your views on? 

The statutory criteria 

Balancing the statutory criteria 

3.1 The statutory criteria – having regard to identities and interests of 
communities, effective and convenient local government, and having a 
duty to achieve equality of representation – are not given any weighting 
in the 1992 Act or elsewhere. The decision in the Enfield case7 made it 
clear that electoral equality was not a simple mathematical test to be 
applied when the other criteria had to be considered as well. Other legal 
advice over the years on the interpretation of the criteria and the rules 
has supported the view that the Commission has to reconcile conflicting 
factors when considering proposals and making its recommendations. 

3.2 It is regarded as a fundamental democratic principle in legislation on 
voting and the franchise that each vote has equal value. In these 
circumstances, it ought to be reasonable to expect there to be equality of 
representation across the whole of a local authority area as a first 
principle in electoral reviews. Of the three criteria, only electoral equality 
can be measured and any changes observed over time. 

3.3 To date, the Commission has taken the view that if electoral inequalities 
are to be kept to a minimum in formulating electoral schemes, all 
interested parties should start from the standpoint of trying to achieve 
absolute electoral equality, then making adjustments for the other 
factors. In practice: 

 The Commission has generally allowed a higher degree of 
inequality, for example, where there is a strong case to reflect 
community identity, the pattern of communities, the configuration of 
parish boundaries and district wards, and the existence of natural 
physical boundaries. 

 The Commission has to take an authority-wide view. What might be 
a more appropriate boundary to reflect community identity in one 
part of an area might mean unacceptably higher or lower 
councillor-to-elector ratios elsewhere in the area. 

 The Commission sometimes decides to go against the weight of 
respondents’ views, which are generally in favour of recognising 
community identity ahead of electoral equality, if there are 
reasonable alternatives on the evidence available that provide 
better levels of electoral equality. 

3.4 An alternative would be to give greater emphasis to community identity. 
This would be easier to apply in areas where boundaries can be drawn 
around discrete communities. Significantly greater electoral inequalities 

                                           

7
 In London Borough of Enfield v Local Government Boundary Commission for England 

(1979) 1 A11 ER 950,953 (upheld in the House of Lords [1979] 3 A11 ER 717).

16



9

would then occur, particularly in rural areas where these would not 
necessarily closely match the area’s councillor-to-elector ratio. 

Q1 Are the three criteria: 1. having regard to identities and interests of 
communities, 2. effective and convenient local government, and
3. having a duty to achieve equality of representation, the most 
appropriate factors for determining electoral boundaries?

 Should all of the criteria be given equal weight?

 Is it appropriate to start, as the Commission does, with electoral 
equality or should there be a different approach?

 If a greater weight were given to community identity, would a higher 
level of electoral inequality be acceptable? 

Community identity 
3.5 The Commission looks for evidence that shows how community identity 

manifests itself, such as the presence of services and active community 
groups, and the extent of the area using them (see Box A). Some 
respondents have also said that the social make-up of an area, such as 
the electorate’s housing tenure or ethnicity, is an indicator of community 
identity. The Commission relies on local submissions and respondents’ 
proposals to provide information that can substantiate community ties. 

Box A: Evidence of community identity supporting recommendations 

In the Suffolk County Council review (Waveney district in particular), the 
Committee agreed to include the parish of Wisset in a division with 
Halesworth town and not with Bungay town, as originally proposed, on the 
grounds of the following community identity argumentation provided by 
Wisset Parish Council: 

 Halesworth provided the market town for residents of Wisset;  

 the primary and middle education for Wisset students is provided 
by schools in Halesworth; 

 Wisset residents use the Waveney District Council offices 
(situated in Halesworth), in addition to the town’s library, hospital, 
doctor’s surgery, arts centre, sports facilities, cafes, restaurants 
and pubs; 

 Wisset residents have links to social organisations in Halesworth, 
such as the British Legion, and places of worship. 

In the review of Alnwick District (Rothbury area in particular), the 
Committee agreed to include Whitton & Tosson parish with Rothbury 
parish, in a rural three member Rothbury & South Rural ward, instead of a 
separate two member (Rothbury) and single member (Whitton) wards, on 

17



10

the grounds of the following community identity argumentation provided by 
the district council and the Whitton & Tosson Parish Council: 

 Whitton & Tosson residents used Rothbury for their local services; 

 the majority of Whitton & Tosson residents live on Jubilee 
Crescent Estate, half of which lies in Rothbury parish; 

 there are already established links between the two parish 
councils, as one councillor from Whitton & Tosson parish also 
attends the Rothbury parish council, in order to work through 
matters of joint interest. 

3.6 In practice, the Commission generally receives conflicting information 
about community identity. Many respondents only make assertions that 
there are community ties, backed up by write-in campaigns and 
petitions. Indeed, community identity means different things to different 
people. It is not unknown for responses from different interested parties 
to claim very different community ties for the same area, in support of 
their different proposals. The challenge for the Commission is to try to 
reconcile these. 

3.7 The Commission has sponsored research to identify possible alternative 
approaches, especially to see if a range of behaviours or measures of 
people’s sense of belonging would more effectively define community 
ties and interests.8 It concluded that: 

 It is difficult to generalise when wards can have anything from 700 
to 6,000 electors per councillor and have one, two or three 
councillors.

 There is no such thing as an easily delineated community; people’s 
behaviours that might define a community are not easily isolated 
and extremely difficult to collect on any large scale to be mapped. 

 Data suggesting socio-economic homogeneity in any area whether 
based on income, household characteristics or ethnicity, is no 
marker of a community existing. 

 The location and distribution of specific public facilities, particularly 
shopping centres at various scales, primary schools, health centres 
and places of worship can point to the cores of communities and 
the existence of community ties. 

 The location of such facilities is objective information that is readily 
available, while usage to show catchment areas can be sought 
from respondents in evidence. 

 Once identified, the Commission should ensure that it does not split 
the cores of communities when drawing boundaries. 

                                           

8
 Research carried out by Professor Michael Chisholm of the University of Cambridge and 

Professor Geoffrey Dench of the Institute of Community Studies, Community identity: 
literature review and analysis for periodic electoral reviews. This paper can be accessed at 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/your-say/ecconsultation.cfm.

18



11

Q2 What evidence can the Commission use to understand community 
identity?  

 Can community identity be recognised through the location of public 
facilities to identify the cores of communities?  

 Should the Commission adopt this approach in its consideration of 
community identity?

 If it did, are there other public facilities that could be used and easily 
provided as evidence? 

Electoral equality/equality of representation 
3.8 The Boundary Committee for England aims to make recommendations 

that minimise electoral imbalances and that will reduce electoral 
inequality. To measure this, it seeks to keep the elector-to-councillor 
ratio for individual wards no more than 10% greater or lesser than the 
average for the whole council area. This is not a hard and fast rule: 
greater levels have been recommended where, for example, community 
ties would clearly be broken or where five year forecasts of the 
electorate indicate a reduction in imbalances in the near future.  

3.9 Because there is less difficulty in achieving greater electoral equality in 
built-up areas with a higher density of housing and few parish 
boundaries, the Commission expects to achieve a higher level of 
electoral equality in the most urban local authorities, though it has never 
set a lower figure for these areas. As Tables 1 and 2 show, much better 
levels of equality were achieved as a result of a periodic electoral review 
(PER). The improvements were more significant in London boroughs 
and other districts with largely urban electorates than in areas where 
other factors, such as parish boundaries, co-terminosity9 and community 
ties had a greater influence. 

                                           

9
 Co-terminosity is a term used to describe following existing electoral or administrative 

boundaries when drawing boundaries, such as drawing an electoral boundary to coincide with 
a parish boundary or to make the boundaries of district wards and county divisions coincide. 

19



12

Table 1: Variance before the PER (number of authorities)10

Weighted
ward 
average
variance

District Metropolitan Unitary London 
borough

County Total 

0–4 0 0 0 0 0 0 
5–9 20 10 15 25 0 70 
10–14 89 16 21 4 21 151 
15–19 71 7 3 3 11 95 
20–24 34 3 2 0 2 41 
25–29 12 0 2 0 1 15 
30+ 12 0 2 0 0 14 
Total 238 36 45 32 35 386 

Table 2: Variance after PER (number of authorities) 

Weighted
ward 
average
variance

District Metropolitan Unitary London 
borough

County Total 

0–4 57 22 13 28 0 120 
5–9 173 14 32 4 29 252 
10–14 8 0 0 0 6 14 
15+ 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Total 238 36 45 32 35 386 

Q3 How far is it reasonable for the Commission to depart from 
electoral equality in reaching its decisions?

 Should this figure be higher or lower than the measure used of no 
more than 10% greater or lesser than the average number of 
electors per councillor for the whole area? 

 Should the figure vary between different areas? 

Effective and convenient local government 
3.10 For electoral reviews, the Commission has taken the view that warding 

has little or no effect on service delivery, the use of wards for funding 
allocations and statistical purposes is not relevant, and that 
consideration should be given to the ease of voting, the efficiency of 
electoral administration, the effectiveness of representation, and the 
workload of councillors in its proposals for council size and ward 
boundaries. 

                                           

10
 The data in this and all the other tables are drawn from reports produced for The Boundary 

Committee for England. 

20



13

3.11 Respondents tend to interpret effective and convenient local government 
as access to services and suggest that warding changes could affect 
service delivery and resource allocations. This would be important in a 
review of local government organisation where administrative boundary 
changes could affect how people’s services are delivered and their 
costs.

3.12 In balancing these considerations, the Commission observes the 
statutory rules on aligning electoral and administrative boundaries. 
These are to contain county divisions within district council boundaries 
and parish wards or un-warded parishes within a single district ward and 
county division. It uses parish boundaries as building blocks in areas that 
are parished and considers the effect of splitting and dividing parishes 
on the administration of elections and effective representation of 
electors. In two-tier areas (areas with a district and county council), it 
considers the effects of splitting district wards to draw boundaries for 
county divisions on the effective representation of electors. For these, 
the Commission has set a ‘co-terminosity’ target of 60–80% of county 
divisions containing only whole district wards.  

3.13 In practice: 

 The Commission generally seeks to avoid dividing parishes into 
wards if alternatives are available. However, it uses its flexibility to 
split parishes between district wards by creating wards or changing 
wards in parishes, to achieve better electoral equality or to take 
account of community ties. 

 Because of the different councillor-to-elector ratios among districts 
in the same county areas, there is no simple way of matching the 
allocation of county councillors to each district council area to 
district ward boundaries. See the example in Box B below. In spite 
of this, the Commission has generally been able to meet its co-
terminosity target in county reviews. 

 There is potentially little to confuse electors at elections where 
district wards are split, since county and district elections will not 
take place simultaneously.11 It is recognised that splitting can mean 
a parish has two or more district councillors, or a district ward 
councillor may have more than one county councillor to liaise with, 
which can add to councillors’ workloads. 

                                           

11
 Under current arrangements. Further information about electoral cycles can be found in

The cycle of local government elections in England – 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/templates/search/document.cfm/9056. 

21



14

Box B: Drawing-up county divisions in Oxfordshire 

With a proposed council size of 74 councillors, Oxfordshire’s allocation of 
councillors had the following effects: 

Number of district 
councillors per ward 

District

1 2 3 

Allocation
of county 

councillors

Divisions
created

Non-co-
terminous
divisions

Cherwell 12 10 6 16 12 4 
Oxford 0 24 0 16 8 0 
South
Oxon

11 17 1 16 14 6 

Vale of 
White
Horse

11 14 4 14 12 4 

West
Oxon

9 14 4 12 11 5 

To achieve high levels of electoral equality in Oxfordshire, each division 
needed to have a councillor-to-elector ratio of as near to 6,508 as possible. 
Oxford city contains 24 wards, which on average contained 4,328 electors. If 
these had to be single councillor county divisions, it would have been 
impossible to achieve any co-terminosity between the divisions and wards 
covering Oxford city, as each division would have needed to comprise a ward 
and a half to achieve electoral equality. With two-councillor divisions, three two-
councillor wards could be combined to create divisions of approximately 12,984 
to be represented by two councillors. This gave a councillor-to-elector ratio of 
6,492, providing an excellent level of electoral equality and 100% co-
terminosity between divisions and wards. With the same allocation and the 
same number of district councillors, this was not possible in South Oxfordshire 
because of the pattern of wards. In none of the other districts was it possible to 
closely match wards with the number of county councillors allocated. As a 
consequence, there are 19 non-co-terminous divisions and, except in Oxford 
city, relatively high levels of electoral inequality. 

3.14 The benefits of co-terminosity can be short-lived if there are subsequent 
FERs of districts in two-tier areas or parish boundary reviews. FERs can 
change district ward boundaries that have been used as the building 
blocks for county divisions. Parish reviews can alter parish ward 
boundaries that may have been used as the building blocks for district 
wards.

Q4 What evidence can the Commission use to indicate effective and 
convenient local government?

 How far do you agree with how we interpret effective and  

22



15

convenient local government for the purpose of defining electoral 
areas?

 Are there benefits in seeking a high degree of matching between 
boundaries (co-terminosity), especially in two-tier areas?  

 Should the Commission set such a target for co-terminosity?

 Should the Commission set such a target for parish boundaries in 
district wards? 

The timing and scheduling of reviews 

3.15 PERs, such as the one between 1996 and 2004, include all local 
authorities in a review of all their electoral boundaries. A programme of 
reviews can be drawn up in advance so that councils are aware of the 
likely timing of the review of their area with good notice. Such a 
programme of reviews should not be required very frequently. In 
between, FERs can be undertaken where there are poor levels of 
electoral equality, which show no sign of improving over time.

Further electoral reviews (FERs) 

3.16 At present, the decision to do a FER is triggered by significant electoral 
imbalances in a high proportion of electoral areas (30% of wards with a 
variance in excess of 10%, or one ward with a variance of over 30%). 
The Commission goes ahead if electorate forecasts suggest no 
improvement being likely and a review fits with the timing of elections. 
When deciding on the outcomes of a FER in two-tier areas, no account 
is taken of the effect of changes on the level of co-terminosity with 
county divisions. The Commission could seek to improve co-terminosity 
by subsequently doing a partial review of a county. 

3.17 Continuing to undertake FERs should delay the need to undertake a 
PER and ensure that electoral equality is maintained within local 
authority areas. The Commission has been asked by councils to 
consider other criteria for deciding whether or not to undertake a FER, 
such as a wish by a local authority to change council size. 

Another PER programme? 

3.18 The Commission has to decide the interval between programmes of 
PERs of all local authorities. It recognises that reviews are resource 
intensive and can be disruptive, and that unless there are significant 
changes to electorates requiring a FER, warding arrangements ought to 
be in place for several cycles of elections. At present, the Commission 
has no immediate plans for another PER programme, but expects 
deteriorating levels of electoral variance to be a determining factor about 
the timing of such a programme, as well as the timing of Parliamentary 

23



16

boundary reviews, because wards are the building blocks used to draw 
constituencies.12

3.19 Electoral inequality appears to increase significantly in relatively few 
local authorities. Before the last PER programme, the average ward 
variance had risen above 20% in 70 councils (18%). The change in 
variance since the PERs suggests that the deterioration is, on average, 
relatively low. In local authorities whose PER was over five years ago, 
three quarters have a variance within one percentage point of the 
variance when the PER was completed. 

3.20 A sixth general review of Parliamentary boundaries will have to be 
completed sometime between 2014 and 2018.13 This suggests that the 
next PER ought to fall between the sixth and seventh reviews and that, 
in the meantime, the Commission should focus on FERs where 
acceptable levels of electoral equality have not been maintained and 
there is a strong case for an interim review. If the Commission were to 
undertake a PER before the conclusion of a sixth review, then the review 
would have to be started around 2008. This might be considered too 
soon for most local authorities. 

3.21 If the Commission planned to repeat the PER after the sixth general 
review of Parliamentary boundaries, it would be undertaken around 20 
years after the last PER for most councils. The PER would include all 
local authorities, whether or not a FER had been carried out. 
Alternatively, the PER could be a rolling programme over a longer period 
in which the earliest reviews are of areas with the worst levels of 
electoral equality, but at some point all the areas not reviewed are then 
programmed for a review. It would require the law to be changed for a 
rolling programme of FERs to replace the need for a PER of all councils. 

Q5 Are the criteria the Commission uses to decide when to undertake 
FERs – 30% of wards with a variance in excess of 10%, or one ward 
with a variance of over 30% – appropriate?

 Should the Commission invite requests from councils for a FER? 

 What justification should the Commission require for reviews 
undertaken on grounds other than electoral equality? 

                                           

12
 Under the Political Parties, Elections and Referendums Act 2000 (PPERA), the 

Commission will become the body responsible for undertaking these boundary reviews in the 
future. Plans are being made to take on the function once the fifth general review is 
completed. 
13

 In England, the fifth general review should be completed by autumn 2006. With a review 
required every 8–12 years, the next review would have to be completed by 2018. 

24



17

Q6 Should the Commission make plans for another programme of 
PERs?

 What approach should the Commission take to the timing of 
another PER and the scheduling of reviews within it?

 What factors should be taken into account when scheduling 
reviews?

Sequencing of reviews in a PER 

3.22 The Commission has always scheduled two-tier shire district reviews to 
be completed before county reviews are undertaken because, as far as 
is practicable, the Commission is expected to take account of the 
boundaries of district wards in county reviews. The programming of other 
districts’ and London boroughs’ reviews was fitted around these.14 All 
reviews were timed, as far as possible, to reflect when the new 
boundaries could be implemented at an election. 

3.23 There is a case for scheduling county reviews much harder on the heels 
of shire district reviews in the county’s area, or for them to be carried out 
virtually concurrently. The law currently requires a county review’s final 
recommendations to be published after the districts’ reviews have been 
agreed by the Commission. Carrying them out concurrently would allow 
the same electorate forecast data to be used, for co-terminosity to be 
considered when drawing up district wards and for the Commission to 
use the knowledge of the area gained during the district review in the 
county review. Implementation dates, however, would vary as councils at 
present have different electoral cycles.

Q7 Should the Commission aim to review two-tier areas – districts and 
counties – simultaneously or overlap the county review with that of 
the districts? 

Issues and information considered during a review 

Council size: the number of councillors on a local authority 

3.24 Council size is the starting point in any electoral review, since it 
determines the optimum councillor-to-elector ratio and leads to 
conclusions on warding patterns. Though the Commission has to 
determine the number of councillors on a local authority, there is

                                           

14
 Also to fit around the timetable for conducting the fifth general review of Parliamentary 

constituencies. 

25



18

nothing in the statutory framework that provides any guidance to setting 
council size. The current pattern, with considerable disparities in size 
and councillor-to-elector ratios, largely results from the sizes agreed 
following the reorganisations of local government in 1963 and 1974. At 
no time has the Government set down exact sizes for councils in 
England linked to the electorate or other variables.15 The Commission’s 
predecessor, the Local Government Commission for England, 
established broad size bands for different types of council. In 1999, 
however, it withdrew these and focused on expecting respondents to 
explain their proposed council size in terms of their functions, population, 
democratic arrangements and pattern of work for councillors. 

3.25 The Commission has indicated in its current guidance that it: 

 has a neutral view on the need for change in any direction; 

 accepts that councils have different traditions in their level and 
pattern of representation, and have adopted different new 
democratic arrangements and approaches to community 
engagement, so that it is appropriate to have diversity; and 

 expects councils (and other respondents) to make a case for 
change and provide evidence in support of this as well as the 
status quo. 

3.26 As a consequence of PERs, there has been little overall change to the 
number of councillors across all local authorities in England. Table 3 
provides a breakdown of the changes in council size, by type of council. 

Table 3: Changes in numbers of councillors on local authorities 

Type of 
area

-5 or 
more

-4 -3 -2 -1 0 1 2 3 4 5 or 
more

Total
number

District/
unitary

27 8 16 17 28 94 45 29 11 6 11 29216

County 1 1 0 1 1 9 5 2 5 5 5 35 
London
borough

4 3 3 4 3 8 3 1 3 0 0 32 

Met.
district

3 0 7 0 0 23 0 0 3 0 0 36 

Total 35 12 26 22 32 134 53 32 22 11 16 395 
% of total 9 3 7 6 8 34 13 8 6 3 4  

3.27 A number of issues around council size suggest that this approach might 
benefit from revision. There are considerable differences between 
councils, which on the face of it seem to have very similar 

                                           

15
 Sizes were set in Scotland and Wales at the last re-organisation of local government and 

the Local Government Boundary Commission for Scotland established a formula for its 
subsequent review (see Appendix B of the Third Statutory Review of Electoral Arrangements 
report for Aberdeen City Council). For elections to new ‘shadow’ authorities in England in 
1973, the Home Office decided that the number of councillors should be within the following 
ranges: counties 60–100; metropolitan districts 50–80; and other districts 30–60. 
16

 Includes nine directed electoral reviews, in addition to the 386 PERs. 

26



19

characteristics, in the total number of councillors they have and their 
councillor-to-elector ratios. This is illustrated in Table 4 and Box C. As a 
consequence voters in many council areas have very different levels of 
representation to those in their neighbouring councils. It also means that 
the Commission is very dependent on the quality of the evidence put 
forward in submissions. Most respondents find it very difficult to support 
their case, either for the status quo or for change in relation to the 
statutory criteria, and do not provide evidence of consultation and 
consensus to provide a firm basis for the Commission’s decision. 

Table 4: Electors per councillor in local authorities17

Percentage of local authorities (by type) Electors per 
councillor District London

borough
Met. Unitary

4,000 + 0 0 14 2 
2,500–3,999 3 59 75 47 
2,000–2,499 13 38 8 29 
1,500–1,999 52 3 3 15 
1,000–1,499 29 0 0 7 
under 1,000 3 0 0 0 
Councillor-to-elector ratios 
Mean 1,361 2,691 3,252 2,553 
Highest 3,009 3,732 6,020 4,168 
Lowest 615 1,877 1,751 1,003 

Box C: Differences in electors per councillor 

 across all councils, the range is from 615 (Teesdale) to 6,020 
(Birmingham);

 the lower quartile for the unitary authorities is significantly higher than the 
upper quartile for districts; 

 over 75% of districts have fewer than 2,000 electors per councillor; only 
10% of single-tier councils do; 

 metropolitan districts tend to have higher ratios than the other single-tier 
councils;

 while the inter-quartile range accounting for half of councils is small (for 
districts, about 400 electors), the other half have ratios much greater or 
lesser, reflecting a very wide distribution; this is particularly so among 
unitary councils; 

 as a consequence there is a difference of x2 between the highest and 
lowest in London, x3 in the metropolitan districts, x4 in the unitaries and 
x5 in the districts. 

3.28 As a consequence, the Commission sponsored research and carried out 
some analysis to see if it could be more prescriptive about what council 

                                           

17
 Excluding the 35 county councils. 

27



20

size would be appropriate for particular local authority areas and what 
evidence is needed to support council size proposals.18

3.29 The research and analysis suggest that: 

 There is no strong evidence to support either increases or 
decreases across the board. 

 Councillors’ workload is generally greater where there are more 
electors per councillor; reductions in numbers of councillors might 
be difficult to justify in some, though not all, circumstances; 
increases might be more justifiable in others to keep down 
workload and maintain contact with electors. 

 Some diversity in size ought to be permitted because of the 
complexity of factors that have to be taken into account and the 
local circumstances that affect them. 

 There is a reasonably strong correlation between the number of 
councillors and the size of the electorate.19 Even so, as the graph 
in Figure 1 shows for district councils, there are considerable 
differences reflected in the outliers.

Figure 1: Electors per councillor by district council 

y = 0.0003x + 22.083

R
2
 = 0.569

20

25

30

35

40

45

50

55

60

65

70

0 20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 120,000 140,000 160,000

Electorate

C
o
u

n
c
il 

s
iz

e

District Councils Linear (District Councils)

                                           

18
 Research was carried out by Dr Colin Copus and Dr Alison Crow of INLOGOV – Council

size: literature review and analysis. The report can be accessed at 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/your-say/ecconsultation.cfm.
19

 The strong positive relationship between the size of the electorate and the number of 
councillors is reflected in correlations (measured by r squared) of 0.38 (unitaries), 0.8 
(metropolitan districts), 0.54 (London boroughs), 0.57 (districts) and 0.39 (counties). 

28



21

Q8 Should the Commission maintain its current approach to determine 
council size or give more specific guidance, such as a formula or 
banding scheme, linked to councils’ electorate size and functions?

 What evidence should be expected from respondents to argue the 
case for council size?  

 Would comparative information, such as indicators of the broad 
council size norms linked to electorate size, provide councils as well 
as the Commission with some guidance in considering proposals? 

Electorate forecasts 

3.30 The Commission is required to take five-year electorate forecasts into 
account when undertaking electoral reviews. It uses the forecasts in 
considering electoral equality. Unfortunately, the estimates provided by 
councils, as illustrated in Table 5, are not very accurate and tend to 
overestimate growth in the electorate significantly.

Table 5: Extent of error in five-year forecasts (216 councils) 

% difference  
(forecast electorate
minus actual electorate) 

Number of 
councils

%

-5 or more 5 2 
-2 to -4 13 6 
-1 20 9 
0 22 10 
1 26 12 
2 to 4 81 38 
5 or more 49 23 

Mean average 2.4%  

3.31 Forecasting is inherently difficult, and any lack of accuracy and 
overestimation may arise from some of the following practices: 

 not taking account of trends in the size of the electorate; 

 not checking against the Office for National Statistics’ (ONS) mid-
year estimates for the population aged over 18; 

 not taking account of falling household sizes (with current electors 
moving to new dwellings in the area); 

 assuming all new developments with planning permission will be 
completed within five years and will contain a standard number of 
electors per household; and 

 adding in outline planning permissions and other sites where 
development might be expected when, in practice, many of these 
will not lead to new housing. 

29



22

3.32 If the Commission had used the base year electorates instead of the 
five-year forecasts, the difference with the actual electorate after five 
years would have been no greater in many cases. Better forecasts 
though, should ensure that high levels of electoral equality can be 
maintained. It would be to the benefit of all parties – voters, 
representatives and the Commission – if more accurate forecasts were 
produced.

Q9 Should the Commission continue to expect all local authorities to 
provide five-year electorate forecasts?

 Can the Commission support local authorities to provide better 
electorate forecasts with some guidance? If so, what form should 
any guidance take? 

Single and multi-member wards and divisions20

3.33 Except in metropolitan districts, where the law requires the number of 
councillors for each electoral area to be divisible by three, the 
Commission has considerable flexibility over deciding how many 
councillors electoral areas should have. Table 6 shows the changes 
arising from the PER programme. The Commission has used this 
flexibility to maintain relatively low levels of electoral variance, avoid 
breaking community ties and maintain co-terminosity. Because of these 
benefits, it has not prescribed in its guidance uniform patterns across 
local authority areas. For example, all wards with single or two 
councillors; or prescribed a specific pattern for different types of local 
authority, such as wards with three councillors in all unitary authorities. It 
has indicated though, that electoral areas should have no more than 
three councillors, because this is believed to dilute the accountability of 
individual councillors to their electors. 

                                           

20
 Electoral areas in counties are divisions; ward is occasionally used to describe all electoral 

areas in the text for the sake of brevity. 

30



23

Table 6: Councillors per ward before and after the PER programme 

% of wards before PER % of wards after PER Type of area 
Single Two  Three or 

more
Single  Two Three 

District 42 29 29 32 42 26 
County 100 0 0 93 7 0.2 
London
borough

2 44 55 0.2 1 98 

Met. district 0 0 100 0 0 100 
Unitary 19 37 43 18 36 46 
Total 46 23 32 39 28 33 

3.34 There is no empirical evidence to suggest that one pattern of 
representation is better than another, from the point of view of either 
voters or councillors. Even so, the Commission has pointed out 
elsewhere that in districts with elections by thirds, voters in single and 
two member wards effectively have fewer chances of voting than 
electors in three member wards in the same authority.21 The 
Commission recognises that its decisions with regard to counties to 
move away from single-councillor divisions and to recommend some 
two- and three-councillor electoral areas have not been without 
controversy. Also that changes in some areas, such as London 
boroughs, for three-councillor wards reflected the Government’s 
intentions at the time to move to elections by thirds in all unitary authority 
areas.

3.35 In the metropolitan districts, the inflexibility can mean less than perfect 
proposals. Accepting arguments on grounds of community ties has 
meant accepting degrees of ward variance in excess of 10% in some 
cases, as well as grouping rural communities with the fringes of urban 
areas with which they have few ties in others.

Q10 Should the Commission be prescriptive about the number of 
councillors per ward or division throughout an area, such as 
having one councillor per ward or division?

 Should the number of councillors for wards in metropolitan districts 
be as flexible as in other areas and should the Commission seek to 
change the legislation?

 Should the Commission continue to set a maximum of three 
councillors for all electoral areas? 

                                           

21
 Refer to the Commission’s report – The cycle of local government elections in England – 

www.electoralcommission.org.uk/templates/search/document.cfm/9056. If the Commission’s 
recommendations for all out elections every four years were implemented, the inequity would 
disappear. 

31



24

Review processes 

Stages of an electoral review 

3.36 The basic stages of a review are set out in the law. The Commission has 
to consult on a draft proposal and it has to consider representations 
before it produces such proposals. The Commission has typically 
allowed 8–12 weeks for each of these stages, adjusting them for local 
circumstances. Table 7 sets the stages out in more detail. Experience in 
the PERs suggests that the intervals allowed for each stage are, by and 
large, practical though reviews of counties and metropolitan districts 
often need to take longer. 

Table 7: The stages of an electoral review 

Stage Period Description 

Preliminary Stage Typically 12 
weeks

The Committee advises the date for 
the review, and briefs local authority 
officers and council members. The 
local authority provides preliminary 
information (maps, statistics, 
forecasts etc.). 

Stage One  Typically 12–15 
weeks

Commencement of review and 
submission of proposals to the 
Committee for future electoral 
arrangements.

Stage Two  Typically 12–16 
weeks

The Committee considers proposals, 
determines draft recommendations 
and prepares the draft 
recommendations report. 

Stage Three  Typically 8 weeks The Committee publishes the draft 
recommendations report and invites 
representations.

Stage Four  Typically 12–16 
weeks

The Committee considers 
representations, reaches 
conclusions on final 
recommendations and submits a 
final report to The Electoral 
Commission.

Post-
recommendation
Stage

Typically 8–10 
weeks

The Commission considers the final 
recommendations and further 
representations received, and 
reaches a decision. 

3.37 Before Stage One, however, there could be some merit in having 
proposals from interested parties on council size and an indication of 
The Boundary Committee for England’s view. This would enable all 
interested parties to submit warding proposals on a similar basis (the 

32



25

same number of councillors and councillor-to-elector ratios), enabling a 
much more informed comparison of proposals to be made. It might also 
stimulate more interest in the review, at an early stage in the process. 
This could be carried out alongside the Preliminary Stage of information 
gathering.

Q11 Should the Commission make any changes to the length and 
nature of the stages of a PER?

 Would there be value in considering council size ahead of Stage 
One?

Communication and consultation 

3.38 The Commission goes beyond the communication and consultation 
required by law. Proposals are made available on the Commission’s 
website and information is circulated to interested parties at each stage, 
to raise awareness of the review. It is the Commission’s intention to 
follow the Government’s good practice guidelines on consultation and to 
increase from eight to 12 weeks the period allowed for responses. 

3.39 Box D describes some of the problems that arise in consultation. The 
Commission would like to enhance its communication and consultation 
processes, the quantity, quality and timeliness of information it receives; 
and the recommendations it makes. It is recognised that there are not 
likely to be high levels of public interest in electoral reviews, compared 
with local authority boundary reviews and with lots of other matters 
affecting public services. In most reviews, there is little interest from 
many people until there is a proposal on the table that is widely 
publicised.  

Box D: What appears to happen at different stages 

At the initial stage, when the Commission is seeking proposals to be submitted, 
the proposals are not always based on the statutory framework or are not 
sufficiently well-evidenced; they generally come from local authorities and other 
groups, such as political parties, with a direct interest in the review. 

At the stage of responding to the Commission’s draft proposals, there are 
responses from individuals and a wider variety of community groups, as might 
be expected when there is something to comment upon. Much depends on the 
local authority’s effectiveness in community engagement and the ability of 
people to access information about the proposals. Alternatives are not 
necessarily well argued by respondents. 

At the last stage, new respondents often complain they have not heard of the 
review and provide information that cannot be taken into account because it 
would change the basis of the proposal too radically, without a  

33



26

further round of consultation. On occasions, however, evidence can come 
forward that can justify a change to the proposals. 

3.40 The Commission would like to encourage a wider range of informed 
submissions, ideally based on local consultation before they are 
presented. The Commission is considering whether or not its staff should 
be available in the area, for a short period, to provide any guidance to 
councils and other interested parties during Stage One, and to request 
councils to make available locally the responses to consultation on their 
own proposals. The Commission is considering how it can more actively 
publicise the review proposals, and assist interested parties and 
individuals, especially parish councils, to make comments on them. 

Q12 What can the Commission do to make people more aware of, and 
get involved in, electoral reviews and the proposals being made?

 Would more proactive local publicity stimulate more interest at 
appropriate stages and more informed responses? 

Naming wards 

3.41 A ward name is generally proposed by respondents. The Commission 
often has to choose between different proposals. It generally looks for 
names that describe the communities in a ward or division and will assist 
voters to identify with the electoral area. At present, wards can only be 
named or re-named as part of an electoral review. There are often 
requests from parish and district councils to alter names.

Q13 Should the name of a ward be open to change without the need for 
a review by The Boundary Committee for England? 

Other considerations 

Q14 Are there any other changes that the Commission could make to 
enhance the process for conducting electoral reviews? 

34



27

4 Responding to the consultation paper 

How do I make a response? 

4.1 There are a number of ways that you can express your views on the 
questions asked in the paper, or any other matters to do with periodic 
electoral reviews. You can write to the Commission at the address 
below, covering any or all of the questions asked. Responses can also 
be submitted via the Commission’s website: 
www.electoralcommission.org.uk/your-say/ecconsultations.cfm. The 
response form lists all the questions and has space to complete your 
response. If you only have views on some of the questions, we still want 
to hear from you.

4.2 It would help if you could give your name and address, or the name and 
address of the organisation, on whose behalf you are responding, so 
that we can provide you with a copy of the Commission’s final report. 

What is the time frame for consultation? 

4.3 There is a consultation period of 12 weeks, commencing 2 September 
2005. The deadline for receipt of submissions is 12pm, 25 November 
2005. All submissions will be acknowledged either by email or letter 
within five working days. 

What will happen after the consultation period? 

4.4 The Commission expects to assess the feedback, and consider what 
policies and processes it wishes to change. By summer 2006, the 
Commission intends to provide respondents with an indication of its 
proposals and its consideration of feedback. Soon afterwards the 
Commission intends to issue The Boundary Committee for England with 
new guidance for carrying out electoral reviews. 

What if I have a question about the consultation paper? 

If you have any specific questions in relation to this document or making a 
submission, please contact us by one of the following methods: 

Telephone: 020 7271 0500 
Fax: 020 7271 0505 

Email: perevaluation@electoralcommission.org.uk

Or write to the address overleaf. 

35



28

The Electoral Commission 
Attention: PER evaluation 
Planning and Development Team 
Trevelyan House 
Great Peter Street 
London
SW1P 2HW 

36


